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STAFF REPORT AND FINDINGS FOR CONSENT RESTORATION ORDER AND 
HEARING FOR NOTICE OF VIOLATION OF THE COASTAL ACT 

 
 
 
 
CONSENT RESTORATION ODER:  CCC-06-RO-03  
 
NOTICE OF VIOLATION    CCC-06-NOV-02 
 
RELATED VIOLATION FILE:  V-5-05-031  
 
PROPERTY LOCATION:                   Northern Terminus of Driftwood Drive, Laguna 

Beach, Orange County (APN 056-240-65)  
(Exhibit 1) 

 
DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY:  65-acre parcel in South Laguna Beach located 

between residential development and the first ridge 
landward of the ocean 

 
PROPERTY OWNER:   Driftwood Properties LLC  
 
AGENT:      Athens Development AC, LLC    
      (aka The Athens Group) 
 
PERSONS SUBJECT TO  
THIS ORDER: Driftwood Properties, LLC; Athens Development 

AC, LLC 
 
VIOLATION DESCRIPTION:  Removal of major vegetation, including 1341 

square feet of threatened Big-leaved Crownbeard 
 
SUBSTANTIVE FILE DOCUMENTS:    

1.  Restoration Order CCC-05-RO-06 file; 
2.  Exhibits 1 through 8. 
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CEQA STATUS:  Exempt (CEQA Guidelines (CG) §§ 15060(c)(2)), 

15060(c)(3) and Categorically Exempt  (CG §§ 
15061(b)(2), 15037, 15038, and 15321). 

 
 
I. SUMMARY OF STAFF RECOMMENDATION  
 
Staff recommends that the Commission approve Consent Restoration Order CCC-06-RO-03 
(“Consent Order”), addressing the unpermitted removal of major vegetation including Big-
leaved Crownbeard (Verbesina dissita, hereinafter referred to as “Crownbeard”), a state and 
federally listed threatened species, in violation of the Coastal Act.  The violation occurred on 
property owned by Driftwood Properties, LLC (“Driftwood”) located at the northern terminus of 
Driftwood Drive in Laguna Beach in Orange County (APN 056-240-65) (“the property”).  
Athens Development AC, LLC (also known as “The Athens Group” and hereinafter referred to 
as “Athens”) has, in its capacity as an agent of Driftwood Properties, LLC, assumed 
responsibility for all restoration and mitigation activities to be conducted pursuant to the Consent 
Order.  Staff has worked closely with Athens in this capacity, to reach an amicable agreement 
that reflects the rare and vulnerable nature of the affected resource, and the need not only to 
restore the Crownbeard that was removed, but also to plant additional Crownbeard and replace 
non-native vegetation with native chaparral, which provides a canopy that promotes Crownbeard 
growth, to mitigate for the interim losses to the Crownbeard.   
 
The violation at issue in this matter consists of the unpermitted removal of major vegetation, 
including approximately 1341 square feet of Crownbeard, from an area in the southeastern 
region of the property.  Crownbeard is an extremely rare, endemic species found only in two 
disjunct populations: southern Laguna Beach and northwestern Baja California, Mexico.  
Crownbeard is easily impacted by human activities and continually threatened by residential 
development and associated fuel modification activities.  The Laguna Beach population, which 
contains the Crownbeard at issue in this matter, is estimated to contain only a few thousand 
plants.  Approximately 80% of this small population is located on private lands and susceptible 
to residential development and fuel modification.  These activities can result in removal of 
plants, and the edge effects and other impacts of habitat fragmentation caused by the removal can 
affect segments of the population that extend well beyond where the activities occur.  
Accordingly, the area of Crownbeard at issue in this matter constitutes an Environmentally 
Sensitive Habitat Area (ESHA) and is protected under Coastal Act Section 30240.   
 
The property is located in the Hobo/Aliso area of Laguna Beach.  The Commission has 
jurisdiction over permit and enforcement matters in this area because Hobo Canyon is an area of 
deferred certification and, therefore, is not subject to local regulation under the certified Laguna 
Beach Local Coastal Program.1
 

                                                 
1 Under Chapter 9 of the Coastal Act, the Commission can take enforcement action in certified 
jurisdictions, subject to certain requirements.    
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Commission can issue a restoration order under section 30811 of the Coastal Act, if it finds that 
development 1) has occurred without a coastal development permit, 2) is inconsistent with 
Chapter 3 of the Coastal Act, and 3) is causing continuing resource damage.  The removal 
constitutes development as defined in Coastal Act Section 30106 and was undertaken without a 
coastal development permit (CDP).  This unpermitted development was inconsistent with 
Section 30240 of the Coastal Act, and will continue to cause “continuing resource damage”, as 
defined in the California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Section 13190, until closely-monitored 
restoration and the appropriate mitigation, as set forth in this Consent Order, is undertaken.  
Therefore, the Commission has the authority to issue a restoration order in this matter.  
 
Accordingly, the Consent Order directs Driftwood and Athens to: 1) restore the approximately 
1341 square feet of Crownbeard that was impacted in violation of the Coastal Act; 2) plant an 
additional 670 square feet of Crownbeard, to mitigate for the temporal loss and loss of fitness 
incurred by the impacted Crownbeard as a result of the Coastal Act violation; 3) remove non-
native acacia and replace it with native southern maritime chaparral, which is the dominant 
community found in surrounding areas and provides canopy shading that is essential for 
Crownbeard growth; and 4) monitor the success of restoration and mitigation efforts and perform 
any necessary maintenance activities, such as weeding or planting container stock, to ensure that 
the restoration and mitigation goals of the Order are accomplished.  In addition, as part of the 
Consent Order, a Notice of Violation of the Coastal Act will be recorded, pursuant to Coastal Act 
Section 30812 at the Orange County Recorder’s Office and will appear in the chain of title to 
protect potential purchasers of the property. Finally, under the terms of the proposed Consent 
Order, Athens will pay $30,000 in Coastal Act penalties to the Violation Remediation Account. 
 
II. RESTORATION HEARING PROCEDURES  
 
The procedures for a hearing on a proposed Restoration Order are set forth in section 13195, 
incorporating by reference sections 13185 and 13186 of the California Code of Regulations 
(CCR), Title 14, Division 5.5, Chapter 5, and Subchapter 9.  The Restoration Order hearing 
procedure is similar in most respects to the procedures that the Commission uses for permit and 
Local Coastal Program matters.   
 
For a Restoration Order hearing, the Chair shall announce the matter and request that all alleged 
violators or their representatives present at the hearing identify themselves for the record, 
indicate what matters are already part of the record, and announce the rules of the proceeding 
including time limits for presentations.  The Chair shall also announce the right of any speaker to 
propose to the Commission, before the close of the hearing, any question(s) for any 
Commissioner, in his or her discretion, to ask of any other speaker.  The Commission staff shall 
then present the report and recommendation to the Commission, after which the alleged 
violator(s) or their representative(s) may present their position(s) with particular attention to 
those areas where an actual controversy exists.  The Chair may then recognize other interested 
persons after which staff typically responds to the testimony and to any new evidence 
introduced.  
 
The Commission will receive, consider, and evaluate evidence in accordance with the same 
standards it uses in its other quasi-judicial proceedings, as specified in 14 CCR section 13195, 
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incorporating by reference sections 13185, 13186 and 13065.  The Chair will close the public 
hearing after the presentations are completed.  The Commissioners may ask questions to any 
speaker at any time during the hearing or deliberations, including, if any Commissioner chooses, 
any questions proposed by any speaker in the manner noted above.  Finally, the Commission 
shall determine, by a majority vote of those present and voting, whether to issue the Restoration 
Order, either in the form recommended by the Executive Director, or as amended by the 
Commission.  Passage of a motion, per staff recommendation or as amended by the Commission, 
will result in issuance of the order.   
  
III. STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 

A.  Motion re: Restoration Order: 
 
I move that the Commission issue Consent Restoration Order No. CCC-06-RO-03, pursuant to 
the staff recommendation. 
 

B.  Recommendation of Approval:  
 
Staff recommends a YES vote.  Passage of this motion will result in the issuance of Consent 
Restoration Order No. CCC-06-RO-03. The motion passes only by an affirmative vote of a 
majority of Commissioners present.  
 

C.   Resolution to Issue Consent Restoration Order:  
 
The Commission hereby issues Consent Restoration Order number CCC-06-RO-03, as set forth 
below, and adopts the findings set forth below on the grounds that 1) Driftwood Properties, LLC  
has conducted development without a CDP, 2) the development is inconsistent with the Coastal 
Act, and 3) the development is causing continuing resource damage.  Athens Development AC, 
LLC, also a signatory to this Consent Order, has agreed to undertake all restoration and 
mitigation activities required under the Consent Restoration Order on behalf of Driftwood 
Properties, LLC. 
 
IV. FINDINGS FOR CONSENT RESTORATION ORDER CCC-06-RO-03 
    

A. Description of Property  
 

The property at issue is a 65-acre lot located at the northern terminus of Driftwood Drive in 
Laguna Beach in Orange County.  The property contains large areas of dense, pristine southern 
maritime chaparral and approximately 15.4 acres of Crownbeard (Exhibit 2 and 3).2  A 
watercourse extends across the eastern region of the property, terminating at a municipal water 
tank.  Crownbeard inhabits the watercourse and adjacent areas.   
 
                                                 
2 Letter to The Athens Group from Steve Nelson, PCR Services Corporation, dated November 2, 2005, at 
page 1.  The letter includes a statement that the impacted Crownbeard represents .2% of the total amount 
of Crownbeard on the property.  If approximately 1341 square feet was impacted, then the total amount 
of Crownbeard on the property is 15.4 acres. Letter is attached as Exhibit 3. 
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 B. Description of Coastal Act Violation 

 
The violation consists of the unpermitted removal of approximately 1341 square feet of 
Crownbeard, listed as a threatened species by both the state and federal governments, from two 
distinct areas of the property, located immediately northeast of the water tank and adjacent to the 
watercourse, near the southeastern boundary of the property (Exhibit 4).3  The Crownbeard was 
removed during fuel modification activities on the property.  Although biologists walked most of 
the areas subject to fuel modification, a 15,000 square foot area was overlooked.  Consequently, 
the Crownbeard in that area was not flagged as a sensitive species and was removed.  The 
removal constitutes development as defined in Coastal Act Section 30106 and was undertaken 
without a CDP, in violation of the Coastal Act. 
 
The stem systems of the Crownbeard plants were removed, leaving only the underground root 
systems intact (Exhibit 5).  Potentially viable seeds were removed along with the other above-
ground structures, thereby causing a reduction in fitness of the portion of the Crownbeard 
population at issue.  In addition, had the Crownbeard not been impacted, it most likely would 
have grown in size.  The temporal loss and loss of fitness cannot be remedied by waiting for the 
Crownbeard to revegetate.  Mitigation as set forth in the Consent Order, consisting of the 
planting an additional area of Crownbeard, is necessary to address the losses incurred as a result 
of the violation.  
 

C. History of Commission Action and Coastal Act Violation at Issue  
 
On October 24, 2005, staff received a report that an area around the watercourse on the 
Driftwood property had been cleared of vegetation.  Staff confirmed during a meeting with a 
representative of Athens, in his capacity as an agent of Driftwood, on November 1, 20054 that a 
violation had occurred.  According to Athens, in October of 2005, Athens, acting as an agent of 
Driftwood, cleared vegetation in three areas on the property for fuel modification purposes.  
Prior to the fuel modification activities, Athens hired biologists to flag sensitive species in the 
areas, so that those conducting the activities would not disturb or remove them.  The biologists 
evaluated and flagged sensitive species in only two of the areas.  The third area was overlooked, 
and Crownbeard was removed from that area.  
 
On November 4, 2005, staff received a document titled, “Draft Restoration Plan for Temporary 
Impacts to Big-leaved Crownbeard (Verbesina dissita) Associated with Fuel Modification 
Activities” from Athens.  Staff sent a violation letter to Athens on December 29, 2005, which 
confirmed receipt of the draft restoration plan and expressed staff’s willingness to work 
cooperatively with Athens to resolve the violation amicably through a consent order (Exhibit 6).  
Staff conducted a site visit to assess the violation on February 16, 2006. 
 

                                                 
3 Approximately 452 square feet of Crownbeard was removed from one of the areas and 889 square feet 
was removed from the other area. 
4 Staff conducted all correspondence related to this violation with Athens, in its capacity as an agent for 
Driftwood.  Staff has worked closely with Athens to resolve the violation through a Consent Order, as 
Athens is the entity that has assumed responsibility for resolving the violation on the property.       
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On April 20, 2006, the Executive Director formally initiated enforcement proceedings by 
sending Athens a “Notice of Intent to Record a Notice of Violation of the Coastal Act and to 
Commence Restoration Order Proceedings (NOI)”, pursuant to Title 14 California Code of 
Regulations Section 13191(a) and Coastal Act Section 30812(a) (Exhibit 7).  The NOI reiterated 
that resolving the violation through a consent order was an option, but also set a deadline for 
submittal of a statement of defense and/or an objection to the recordation of a Notice of 
Violation to address the possibility that Athens could challenge the enforcement action rather 
than enter into a consent agreement.  Athens agreed to work with Staff and, therefore, did not 
object to the recordation of the Notice of Violation or submit a statement of defense.  Staff 
worked closely with Athens over the next two months to reach an effective, amicable resolution 
to the violation.  On June 23, 2006, authorized signatories for both Driftwood and Athens signed 
Consent Restoration Order No. CCC-06-RO-03, a copy of which is attached to this staff report.  
 

D. Basis for Issuance of Restoration Order 
 
The statutory authority for issuance of this Restoration Order is provided for in Coastal Act 
Section 30811, which states, in relevant part: 
 

In addition to any other authority to order restoration, the commission… may, after a public 
hearing, order restoration of a site if it finds that [a.] the development has occurred without 
a coastal development permit from the commission…, [b.] the development is inconsistent 
with this division, and [c.] the development is causing continuing resource damage. 

 
  1. Development Has Occurred Without a Coastal Development Permit  
 
Development is defined in Coastal Act Section 30106, which states: 

 
“Development” means, on land, in or under water, the placement or erection of any solid 
material or structure; … and the removal or harvesting of major vegetation other than for 
agricultural purposes, kelp harvesting, , and timber operations which are in accordance 
with a timber harvesting plan submitted pursuant to the provisions of the Z'berg-Nejedly 
Forest Practice Act of 1973 (commencing with Section 4511). (emphasis added) 

 
The previously discussed, the activities at issue in this matter consisted of the removal of major 
vegetation, including extremely rare and threatened Crownbeard.  These activities clearly 
constitute “development” as defined in Coastal Act Section 30106 and are subject to Coastal Act 
permitting requirements set forth in Coastal Act Section 30600(a), which states:  

 
(a) Except as provided in subdivision (e), and in addition to obtaining any other permit 
required by law from any local government or from any state, regional, or local agency, 
any person, as defined in Section 21066, wishing to perform or undertake any 
development in the coastal zone, other than a facility subject to Section 25500, shall 
obtain a coastal development permit.  

 
Commission staff has verified, and Driftwood does not dispute, that the cited development on the 
property was conducted without a CDP.  Accordingly, the Commission is authorized to issue the 
Consent Order pursuant to Section 30811.  The Consent Order will direct Driftwood and Athens, 
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as an agent of Driftwood, to fully restore the vegetation that was removed and to mitigate for the 
temporal loss and loss of fitness incurred, in order to return the property to the condition that it 
would have been in had the violation not occurred.  
 

2. Unpermitted Development is Inconsistent with the Coastal Act 
 
The unpermitted development is inconsistent with Coastal Act Section 30240, which requires 
protection of all environmentally sensitive habitat areas within the Coastal Zone and subject to 
regulation under the Coastal Act.  Environmentally sensitive habitat areas are defined in Coastal 
Act Section 30107.5, as follows: 
  

"Environmentally sensitive area" means any area in which plant or animal life or their 
habitats are either rare or especially valuable because of their special nature or role in 
an ecosystem and which could be easily disturbed or degraded by human activities and 
developments. (emphasis added) 

 
Crownbeard, a state and federally listed threatened species, is a semi-woody perennial shrub that 
is a member of the sunflower family (Asteraceae) (Exhibit 8).5  It can grow to just over three 
feet tall and is often found growing on coastal hillsides and in canyons under the canopy of dense 
southern maritime chaparral and, to a lesser extent, coastal sage scrub and mixed chaparral.  This 
species is extremely rare, found only along a 2-mile stretch of the southern Laguna Beach coast 
and along the northwestern coast of Baja California, Mexico.  The Laguna Beach population is 
only estimated to contain a few thousand plants.6  Approximately 20% of those plants are located 
within Aliso & Wood Canyons Regional Park and are managed and protected by Orange 
County.7  The remaining 80% of the plants are located on private lands and are threatened by 
residential development and the recurring fuel modification that is required when development 
occurs.   
 
Residential development and fuel modification has already impacted the Laguna Beach 
population.8  Individual plants are susceptible to removal during these development activities and 
large areas of the population can be disturbed by edge effects and other impacts that occur when 
development fragments the Crownbeard habitat.  Cumulative impacts from removal and habitat 
fragmentation threaten the survival of the species.  Thus, Crownbeard is an extremely rare 
species that has and continues to be affected by human activities.      
 
Coastal Act Section 30240 states the following:  

 
                                                 
5 For state listing, see  14 C.C.R. § 670.1 (2006).  For federal listing, see Endangered and Threatened 
Wildlife and Plants; Determination of Endangered or Threatened Status for Four Southern Maritime 
Chaparral Plant Taxa from Coastal Southern California and Northwestern Baja California, Mexico, 61 
Fed. Reg. 52370-52384 (October 7, 1996) (to be codified at 50 C.F.R. § 17.12(2)(h) (2005)).  
6 61 Fed. Reg. 52370-52384, quoting  CDFG 1992, Marsh 1992. 
7 Id. 
8 California Department of Fish and Game, Section on California’s Plants and Animals, Habitat 
Conservation Planning Branch, 2006, available at http://www.dfg.ca.gov/hcpb/cgi-
bin/read_one.asp?specy=plants&idNum=218 (last visited June 26, 2006). 
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(a)  Environmentally sensitive habitat areas shall be protected against any significant 
disruption of habitat values, and only uses dependent on such resources shall be allowed 
within such areas. 
 
(b)  Development in areas adjacent to environmentally sensitive habitat areas and parks 
and recreation areas shall be sited and designed to prevent impacts which would 
significantly degrade such areas, and shall be compatible with the continuance of such 
habitat areas. 

 
Driftwood failed to flag an area of Crownbeard habitat prior to conducting fuel modification 
activities on the property, which would have alerted those conducting fuel modification activities 
not to disturb the threatened species.  As a result, approximately 1341 square feet of Crownbeard 
was removed.  This fuel modification was not a dependent use and significantly disrupted the 
rare and fragile Crownbeard habitat, in violation of Section 30240(a).  Moreover, the 
Crownbeard removal fragmented the population, potentially impacting a much larger area of 
Crownbeard in a way that is not compatible with the continuance of the habitat, in violation of 
Section 30240(b).   
  

3. Unpermitted Development is Causing Continuing Resource Damage 
 
The unpermitted development is causing continuing resource damage, as defined in Title 14, 
California Code of Regulations, Section 13190, which states:  
 

‘Continuing’, when used to describe ‘resource damage’, means such damage which 
continues to occur as of the date of issuance of the Restoration Order.   

 
‘Resource’ means any resource which is afforded protection under the policies of 

Chapter 3 of the Coastal Act, including but not limited to public access, marine and other 
aquatic resources, environmentally sensitive wildlife habitat, and the visual quality of coastal 
areas. 

 
‘Damage’ means any degradation or other reduction in quality, abundance, or other 

quantitative or qualitative characteristic of the resource as compared to the condition the 
resource was in before it was disturbed by unpermitted development. (emphasis added) 
 
The Crownbeard is afforded protection under Coastal Act Section 30240, and is therefore a 
“resource” as defined in Title 14, California Code of Regulations, Section 13190(a).  The 
Crownbeard removal reduced the quality and abundance of the rare plant, thereby causing 
“damage” to the resource, as defined in Title 14, California Code of Regulations, Section 
13190(b).  Without closely-monitored restoration and appropriate mitigation, which Athens has 
agreed to undertake as set forth in the Consent Order, the impacts from the temporal loss and loss 
of fitness that occurred will persist, constituting “continuing” resource damage, as defined in 
Title 14, California Code of Regulations, Section 13190(c).  Therefore, the Commission has the 
authority under Coastal Act Section 30811 to issue a Restoration Order in this matter.   
 
 4.    Provisions of Consent Restoration Order No. CCC-06-RO-03
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All of the activities set forth in the Consent Order are consistent with and, in fact, are designed to 
further Chapter 3 resource protection policies.  Staff recommends that the Commission issue the 
Consent Order to facilitate the restoration and mitigation activities necessary to fully resolve the 
violation at issue in this proceeding and to mitigate the significant impacts to sensitive resources 
that occurred as a result of the violation.  Athens has agreed not only to restore the impacted 
Crownbeard on the property, but to plant additional Crownbeard to mitigate the temporal loss 
and loss of fitness that the impacted Crownbeard incurred.  Moreover, Athens has also agreed to 
replace non-native acacia trees in an area of the property with native Big-Pod Ceanothus, in an 
effort to extend the dominant southern maritime chaparral community and continue the natural 
character of the surrounding areas.      
 
In addition, the Consent Order requires the submittal of a Restoration Plan, for approval by the 
Executive Director, before commencement of the activities set forth in the Consent Order.  This 
plan will include a Restoration Map, all methods and performance standards to be used, 
necessary contingency plans, and a detailed monitoring and maintenance element.  The 
Restoration Plan is a proactive measure that will ensure protection of natural resources and 
conformity of all restoration and mitigation activities with the policies of Chapter 3 of the 
Coastal Act. 
    
F.    California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)   
   
The Commission finds that the issuance of Consent Restoration Order CCC-06-RO-03 to compel 
compliance with the Coastal Act, to restore resources impacted by unpermitted development 
activities, and to mitigate the impacts that resulted form the unpermitted development is exempt 
from any applicable requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act of 1970 (CEQA) 
and will not have any significant adverse effects on the environment, within the meaning of 
CEQA.  The Order is exempt from the requirements for the preparation of an Environmental 
Impact Report, based on Sections 15060(c)(2), 15060(c)(3), 15061(b)(2), 15037, 15038, and 
15321 of the CEQA Guidelines. 
 
G.    Findings of Fact 
   
1. Driftwood Properties, LLC is the owner of property located at the northern terminus of 
Driftwood Drive in the City of Laguna Beach, in Orange County (APN 056-240-65).  
 
2. Athens Development AC, LLC (aka The Athens Group) is an agent of Driftwood Properties, 
LLC, has been the contact for all telephone discussions with, and the agent of service for all 
correspondence from, Commission staff related to the violation described in allegations #3 and 
#4 below, and has assumed responsibility for resolving the violation.  
 
3. Driftwood Properties, LLC has undertaken development on the property, as defined in Coastal 
Act Section 30106, consisting of the removal of major vegetation including threatened Big-
leaved Crownbeard. 
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4. Driftwood Properties, LLC undertook the development described in allegation #3 above 
without obtaining a coastal development permit, in violation of the Coastal Act.  
 
5. The unpermitted development described in allegation #3 above impacted Big-leaved 
Crownbeard, a state and federally listed threatened species and is, therefore, inconsistent with 
Coastal Act Section 30240.   
 
6. The unpermitted development described in allegation #3 above is causing “ongoing resource 
damage” within the meaning of Coastal Act Section 30811 and Title 14, California Code of 
Regulations, Section 13190. 

7. Coastal Act Section 30811 authorizes the Commission to issue a restoration order.  Coastal 
Act Section 30812 authorizes the Executive Director to record a Notice of Violation.  
 
8.  The work to be performed under this Consent Order, if done in compliance with the Order 
and the plans approved therein, will be consistent with Chapter 3 of the Coastal Act. 
 
9. On October 24, 2005, staff received a report that vegetation had been cleared from the 
Driftwood Properties, LLC property.   
 
10. After a November 1, 2005 meeting with a representative from Athens Development AC, 
LLC, in his capacity as an agent for Driftwood Properties, LLC, Staff confirmed that a violation 
occurred. 
 
11. On November 4, 2005, staff received a document titled, “Draft Restoration Plan for 
Temporary Impacts to Big-leaved Crownbeard (Verbesina dissita) Associated with Fuel 
Modification Activities” from Athens Development AC, LLC.  
 
12. On December 29, 2005, staff sent a Notice of Violation letter to Athens Development AC, 
LLC, confirming receipt of the draft restoration plan and expressing staff’s preference to resolve 
the violation amicably through a consent order.  
 
13. On April 20, 2006, the Executive Director issued a Notice of Intent to Record a Notice of 
Violation and to Commence Restoration Order Proceedings to Athens Development AC, LLC, 
pursuant to Title 14 California Code of Regulations Section 13191(a) and Coastal Act Section 
30812(a), to address the unpermitted removal of Crownbeard from the property.   
 
14. On June 23, 2006, authorized signatories for both Driftwood and Athens signed Consent 
Restoration Order No. CCC-06-RO-03, a copy of which is attached to this staff report.  
 
15. The temporal loss and loss of fitness incurred by the Crownbeard will continue until 
restoration and mitigation activities resolve the violation and restore the impacted habitat to the 
condition that it would have been in had the violation not occurred.  
 
 
Staff recommends that the Commission issue the following Consent Restoration Order:  
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CCC-06-RO-03  
Exhibit List   
 
 
Exhibit  
Number   Description  
 
1.  Site Map and Location.  
2. Photograph of vegetation on the property, submitted on October 24, 2005. 
3.  Letter to Athens from Steve Nelson, a consultant from PCR Services Corporation hired 

by Athens to prepare an impacts analysis, dated November 2, 2005.   
4.  Draft map of Crownbeard restoration, mitigation, and reference sites, submitted by 

Athens on March 30, 2006. 
5. Photographs showing area where Crownbeard was removed, dated October 27, 2005. 
6.  Notice of Violation letter from Commission staff to Athens, dated December 29, 2005. 
7.  Notice of Intent to Record a Notice of Violation and to Commence Restoration Order 

Proceedings from Executive Director to Athens, dated April 20, 2006. 
8.  Final Rule published by United Stated Fish and Wildlife Service entitled, Determination 

of Endangered and Threatened Status for Four Southern Maritime Chaparral Plant Taxa 
from Coastal Southern California and Northwestern Baja California, Mexico, at 61 Fed. 
Reg. 52370-52384, dated October 7, 1996. 
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